
Resources Department
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE (ADVISORY)

Members of the Audit Committee and Audit Committee (Advisory) are summoned to a meeting, 
which will be held in Committee Room 4, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on, 24 July 2018 at 
7.00 pm.

Yinka Owa
Director of Law and Governance

Enquiries to : Zoe Lewis
Tel : 020 7527 3486
E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk
Despatched : 16 July 2018

Membership Substitute Members

Councillor Nick Wayne (Chair)
Councillor Sue Lukes (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Satnam Gill OBE
Councillor Una O'Halloran
Alan Begg (Co-Optee)
Nick Whitaker (Co-Optee)

Councillor Vivien Cutler
Councillor Sara Hyde
Councillor Rakhia Ismail
Councillor Flora Williamson

Quorum: is 3 Councillors

Public Document Pack



A. Formal Matters Page

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declaration of substitute members

3. Declarations of interest

If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business:
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it 
becomes apparent;

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that 
is already in the register in the interests of openness and 
transparency.  

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item.

If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to 
speak or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details 
of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may 
participate in the discussion and vote on the item.

*(a)Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain.

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of 
your expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; 
including from a trade union.

(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, 
between you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a 
beneficial interest) and the council.

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month 

or longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body 

in which you or your partner have a beneficial interest.
 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a 

place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal 
value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share 
capital.  

This applies to all members present at the meeting.

4. Minutes of previous meeting 1 - 2

B. Items for Decision - Audit (Advisory) Committee Page

1. Annual Governance Statement 2017-18 3 - 32

2. Monitoring Officer's report on the Local Government Ombudsman's 
decisions July 2017/June 2018

33 - 60



3. The Council's use of surveillance under the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000

61 - 66

4. Market Supplements 67 - 72

5. External Auditor Report To Follow

C. Items for Decision - Audit Committee Page

D. Urgent non-exempt items

Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances.  The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes.

E. Exclusion of press and public

To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining item on the agenda, 
it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information within 
the terms of the Access to Information procedure rules in the Constitution and, if 
so, whether to exclude the press and public during discussion thereof.

F. Confidential/exempt items

G. Urgent exempt items (if any)

Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances.  The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes.

The next meeting of the Audit Committee and Audit Committee (Advisory) will be on 15 October 
2018



This page is intentionally left blank



1

London Borough of Islington

Audit Committee and Audit Committee (Advisory) -  11 June 2018

Minutes of the meeting of the Audit Committee and Audit Committee (Advisory) held at Committee 
Room 4, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 11 June 2018 at 6.30 pm.

Present: Councillors: Nick Wayne (Chair), Sue Lukes (Vice-Chair), Satnam 
Gill OBE, Una O'Halloran. 

Also 
Present:

Independent 
member:

Alan Begg

Councillor Nick Wayne in the Chair

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A1)
Apologies were received from Independent Member, Nick Whitaker.

2 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A2)
There were no declarations of substitute members. 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Item A3)
There were no declarations of interest. 

4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A4)

RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 March 2018 be confirmed as an accurate record 
of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them.

5 MEMBERSHIP, TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DATES OF MEETINGS (Item C1)
RESOLVED
That the membership appointed by Council on the 24 May 2018, terms of reference and 
dates of meetings of the of the Audit and Audit (Advisory) Committee for the municipal year 
2018/2019 as set out at Appendix A be noted.

6 AUDIT COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 2018/2019 (Item C2)
RESOLVED

A. Pensions Sub-Committee

a) That the size of the Sub-Committees and the Terms of Reference be confirmed.

b) That the following members be appointed to the Pensions Sub-Committee for 
the municipal year 2018/2019.

Members Substitute Members
David Poyser (Chair) Angela Picknell
Andy Hull (Vice-Chair) Flora Williamson
Mick O’Sullivan Jenny Kay
Sue Lukes Mouna Hamitouche

Page 1

Agenda Item A4



Audit Committee and Audit Committee (Advisory) -  11 June 2018

2

c) That Councillor Poyser be appointed Chair and Councillor Hull be appointed 
Vice-Chair of the Pensions Sub-Committee for the municipal year 2018/2019 or 
until successors are appointed.

B. Personnel Sub-Committee

a) That the size of the Sub-Committee and the Terms of Reference be confirmed.

b) That the following members be appointed to the Personnel Sub-Committee for 
the municipal year 2018/2019.

Councillors Substitute Members
Nick Wayne (Chair) All other Executive members
Richard Watts
Andy Hull
Roulin Khondoker
Satnam Gill

c) That Councillor Nick Wayne be appointed Chair of the Personnel Sub-
Committee for the municipal year 2018/19 or until successors are appointed.

C. Pensions Board

a) That the following appointments for the Pensions Board be noted:-

 the re-appointment of Marion Oliver as a pensioner member representative 
and Thelma Harvey as a substitute pensioner representative for a one year 
term from 4 June 2018.

 The following appointments for a four year term from 4 June 2015 or until 
successors are appointed:-

Mike Calvert, Unison, as a member representative;
David Bennett – as Independent Member;
Maggie Elliott – Chair of Governors at Montem School as employer 
representative;

b) To note that there is an employer representative vacancy.

c) To note the appointment of George Sharkey, GMB, as a member representative 
for a four year term with effect from 26 May 2017.

d) To appoint Councillor Paul Smith as Chair of the Pensions Board.

The meeting ended at 6.35 pm

CHAIR

Page 2



Finance and Resources
Newington Barrow Way, London N7 7EP

Report of: Corporate Director Resources

Meeting of Date Ward(s)

Audit Committee 24th July 2018 All

Delete as 
appropriate

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Annual Governance Statement 2017-18

1. Synopsis

1.1. This report provides Committee with the Council’s 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement (AGS). In 
accordance with Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council is required to 
undertake a review its governance framework and publish an AGS as part of the Statement of Accounts.

1.2. The purpose of the AGS process is to provide a continuous review of the Council's governance 
framework, to provide assurance on its effectiveness and, where applicable, produce an action plan to 
address weaknesses identified. The process of preparing the AGS adds value to the corporate 
governance and internal control framework.

1.3. This report is intended to support the Committee in obtaining assurance that the Council has a sound 
framework of governance, risk management and internal control.  

2. Recommendations

2.1. Committee is requested to approve the content of this report and the AGS attached at Appendix A.

3. Background

3.1. As in previous years, the production of the AGS has been led by the Head of Internal Audit, with 
contributions received from key officers across the Council including Law, Finance, Strategy, Children’s 
Services, Housing and Adult Social Care, and Environment and Regeneration.

Page 3

Agenda Item B1



3.2. The 2017-18 AGS follows the guidelines encompassed in the CIPFA/SOLACE ‘Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government’ framework (2016).

3.3. Section 3 of the AGS aligns with Chapter 7 of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework, which lists the key 
elements of the structures and processes that should comprise an authority’s governance arrangements. 

3.4. In line with the framework, the AGS (attached at Appendix A) is an assessment of the Council’s 
performance across all of its activities and describes:

 the key elements of the Council’s governance arrangements, covering all corporate systems and the 
range of activities for which the Council is responsible (Section 3),

 the processes applied in reviewing the effectiveness of the Council’s governance framework, 
including the system of internal control (Section 4),

 the actions proposed to deal with any significant governance issues identified (Section 5),
 other areas of assurance and governance (Section 6). 

3.5. While not published, it is worth noting that, since 2016-17 a comprehensive self-assessment underpins 
the AGS. The self-assessment is prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good 
Governance Guidance notes. The self-assessment is a useful tool as it allows authorities to assess how 
far their processes and documentation meet the criteria suggested in the CIPFA/SOLACE framework.

3.6. The governance framework described in the AGS has been in place at the Council for the year ended 
31 March 2018. 

4. Implications

4.1. Financial implications 
A sound system of internal controls forms a significant part of the governance framework and is 
essential to underpin the effective use of resources.

4.2. It should be noted that since the AGS was prepared and signed, the Council has reported its financial 
outturn for 2017-18.  The £5.7m overspend quoted in paragraph 6.2 of the AGS improved to an 
overspend of £3.9m.

4.3. Legal Implications .  
Regulation 6 (1) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to conduct an annual 
review of its system of internal control and, following the review, the Council must approve an Annual 
Governance Statement, prepared in accordance with proper practices in relation to internal control.

4.4. Environmental implications 
There are no environmental implications arising from the recommendations in this report.  

4.5. Resident Impact Assessment .  
There are no direct resident impact assessment implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report.

5. Reason for recommendations

Page 4



The Annual Governance Statement, attached at Appendix A, reports on the Council’s governance 
arrangements and control environment and, having been approved by CMB and signed by the Leader 
and Chief Executive, forms part of the Statement of Accounts.  

Appendices:

Appendix A – 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement

Final report clearance:

Signed by: Mike Curtis

Corporate Director Resources Date July 2018

Report Author:  Nasreen Khan, Head of Internal Audit, Investigations and Risk Management
Tel:  0207 974 2211
Email:  nasreen.khan@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications  Author: Alan Layton

Email: 
alan.layton@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author: 
Peter Fehler

Email:
peter.fehler@islington.gov.uk

REPORT ENDS

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 1 of 5

Resources Department
7 Newington Barrow Way, N7 7EP

Report of: Monitoring Officer, Director of Law and Governance

Meeting of: Date Agenda item Ward(s)

Audit Committee 24 July 2018 All

Delete as
appropriate

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Update on Ombudsman’s decisions July 2017/June 2018

1.

1.1

Synopsis

This report updates the Committee on the number, nature and findings of complaints made to 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) during the period from 17th  July  
2017 – 30th   June 2018.

2. Recommendations

2.1 To note the contents of the report.

3. Background

3.1 The Commission for Local Administration in England, commonly known as the Local 
Government Ombudsman, was set up following the Local Government Act 1974. In June 2017 
the Local Government Ombudsman’s title was changed to the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) to reflect its wider remit.

Page 33

Agenda Item B2



Page 2 of 5

3.2 The main statutory functions for the LGSCO are found in the Local Government Act 1974 as 
amended by the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. Their powers 
include: 
a) investigating complaints against councils and some other authorities;
b) investigating complaints about adult social care providers from people who arrange or   
         fund their adult social care (Health Act 2009); 
c) providing advice and guidance on good administrative practice; and
d) looking at service failure in addition to maladministration (LGPIHA 2007).

3.3 All investigated complaints result in a decision. The LGSCO issues these decisions, either by 
way of a statement of reasons for the decision or a report. If the LGSCO decides that the 
council has done something wrong and that this fault (be that maladministration, service failure, 
or failure to provide a service) has caused an injustice to the complainant, the LGSCO will 
recommend what the council should do to put this right.

3.4 Additionally, where a complaint of fault is upheld and a formal report (or public interest report) 
is to be issued; this must be considered by the Executive (for executive functions) or Full 
Council or its appropriate committee (for non-executive functions).

3.5 In the case of complaints about the council, the outcomes of these complaints are reported to 
Members by way of this committee. The most recent report come before this committee on the 
223rd January 2018. 

4 Complaints against the council

4.1 During the 17th July 2017- 30th June 2018 there were 33 complaints about the Council to the 
LGSCO:
 
 10 were upheld; 
 5 were not upheld, and
 18 were closed after initial enquiries and accordingly did not reach investigation stage.

Attached as Appendix one are two tables. The first, Table one, provides a brief summary of the 
upheld and not upheld complaints. The second, Table two, provides a summary of the 18 
complaints closed after initial enquiries.

Further, full copies of the decisions in Table one and two can be found on the LGSCO’s 
website: https://www.lgo.org.uk/Decisions.

4.2 Since 17th July 2017, the council has only received one decision which has resulted in a formal 
(Public Interest) report of maladministration.

A copy of the report setting out the nature, findings and recommendations of the LGSCO and 
consequential action taken by the council is attached as Appendix two.

4.3 In April 2013, the Housing Ombudsman took over responsibility for all new complaints about 
social housing. This includes complaints about a local authority’s (or arms-length management 
organisation’s) relationship as landlord to its tenants or leaseholders. 

Page 34

https://www.lgo.org.uk/Decisions


Page 3 of 5

The Housing Ombudsman’s jurisdiction occasionally overlaps with that of the LGSCO 
Ombudsman. They are both able to conduct joint investigations and work under a 
Memorandum of Understanding. For the relevant period, four complaints have resulted in the 
Housing Ombudsman making a decision of maladministration. Table three provides a brief 
summary of these complaints and can be found at Appendix One.

4.4 In order to ensure that the council continually improves its performance and that lessons are 
learned from the Ombudsman’s decisions, all reports are shared with the service area and 
relevant officers.

5 Implications

5.1 Financial implications

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

However, s 92 of the Local Government Act 2000 provides that the authority may, if they think 
appropriate, make a payment to, or provide some other benefit for, a person where:

(a) that action taken by or on behalf of the authority in the exercise of their functions amounts 
to, or may amount to, maladministration, and

(b) that a person has been, or may have been, adversely affected by that action,

During the period from 17th July 2017 – 30th June 2018, £9,418.33 was payable for 
maladministration arising out of Ombudsman decisions. Payments are met from within existing 
budgets.

5.2 Legal Implications

In accordance with s 5A(2) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the Monitoring 
Officer is under an obligation to prepare a report to the Executive where it appears that the 
authority, or any part of it, has acted or is likely to act in such a manner as to constitute 
maladministration, or service failure, and where the LGSCO has conducted an investigation 
into the matter. This obligation applies to all LGSCO decisions. 

In preparing that report, the Monitoring Officer is under a duty to consult as far as practicable 
with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer (s 5A(5)(a)). As soon as 
practicable after the report has been prepared, the Monitoring Officer’s report must be sent to 
each member of the authority (s 5(A)(5)(b)).

Under s 5A(6) it is the duty of the authority’s Executive to consider the Monitoring Officer’s 
report within 21 days. Under s 5A(8), as soon as practicable after the Executive has concluded 
its consideration of the report, the Executive must prepare a report which specifies: (a) what 
action (if any) the Executive has taken in response to the report of the Monitoring Officer; (b) 
what action (if any) the executive proposes to take in response to that report and when it 
proposes to take that action; and (c) the reasons for taking the action specified in the 

Page 35



Page 4 of 5

Executive’s report or, as the case may be, for taking no action. The Executive must also 
arrange for a copy of that report to be sent to each member of the authority and the authority’s 
Monitoring   Officer (s 5A(9)).   

 

However, the LGSCO in their letter to this authority dated the 20th July 2017 stated:

“……. I do not seek to impose a prescriptive approach, as long as the Parliamentary intent 
is fulfilled in some meaningful way and the authority’s performance in relation to 
Ombudsman investigations is properly communicated to elected members.

As a general guide I would suggest:

Where my office has made findings of maladministration/fault in regard to routine 
mistakes and service failures, and the authority has agreed to remedy the complaint by 
implementing the recommendations made following my investigations, I feel that the duty 
is satisfactorily discharged if the Monitoring Officer makes a periodic report to the council 
summarising the findings on all upheld complaints over a specific period……….”

5.3 Environmental Implications

There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

5.4 Resident Impact Assessment

A resident impact assessment has not been conducted, as this report provides monitoring 
information and a legal update for the Committee.

6. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

6.1 This report ensures that the statutory requirements of the Local Government Act 1974, and 
Local Government Housing Act 1989 are met.

Appendices: 

Appendix One: Table one and two of LGSCO complaints received during 17th July 2017 – 30th June 
2018.
Table three of Housing Ombudsman complaints received during 17th July – 30th June 
2018.

Appendix Two: Monitoring Officer report to the Executive (19.07.2018) regarding LGSCO finding of  
                         maladministration.

Background papers: None 

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

Page 36



Page 5 of 5

Monitoring Officer (Acting Director of Law & 
Governance)

       Date

Report Author:                        Biancia Robinson
Tel:
Email:

Financial Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Legal Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

020 7527 3605
Biancia.robinson@islington.gov.uk.

Steve Abbott
020 7527 2369
steve.abbott@islington.gov.uk 

Biancia Robinson
020 7527 3605
Biancia.robinson@islington.gov.uk.

Page 37

mailto:Biancia.robinson@islington.gov.uk
mailto:steve.abbott@islington.gov.uk
mailto:Biancia.robinson@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix One: 

Table One - Complaints received by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 17th July 2017- 30th June 2018

No LGSCO 
Case no 

(ID)

Date Nature of Complaint Brief Description Type of 
Decision

Outcome

1 17002579 25.04.18 Assessment Mr and Mrs C complained about the lack of 
home care support Mr C had received from the 
Council and the lack of support Mrs C had 
received as his carer. The Ombudsman found 
there was a delay in carrying out Mr C’s needs 
assessment (twice) and shortcomings in the 
support provided to his wife. The Council
accepted our recommendations that it should 
provide an apology, a financial remedy for the 
distress caused and a carer’s direct payment
for the period January 2016 to June 2017.

Statement Upheld

Financial Award:
£1,560 Carer’s Direct 
Payment

£1,300 Driving 
instructor course

£2,00 impact of 
overpayment

£200 (£100 each for 
delay)

2 17009320 18.04.18 Housing Benefit In March 2017 the Council failed to properly 
consider Mr B’s circumstances. That caused 
Mr B frustration, uncertainty and led to him 
having to go to time and trouble to pursue his 
complaint. An apology, memo to officers 
reminding them of the housing benefit 
regulations and a financial payment is 
satisfactory remedy for the
injustice caused.

Statement Upheld

Financial Award:

£250 (to be deducted 
from HB overpayment 
should tribunal uphold 
councils decision to 
recover it)

3 17013909 04.04.18 Allocations Mr X complains the Council did not award 
medical rehousing points and did not tell him of 

Statement Upheld

P
age 39



2

his right of review. The Council’s note of the 
medical assessment does not show how it
considered the medical reports and this is fault. 
The information about seeking a review 
included in the decision letter is misleading.
To correct the fault the Council will now 
complete a review.

Financial Award:

No Financial Award 
made

4 17011285 29.05.18 Homelessness Miss X complains the Council has refused to 
provide her with assistance with her housing. 
She says she is homeless as her mother has 
been evicted from temporary accommodation

Formal 
Report 
(Public 
Interest)

Upheld

Financial Award:
£400 distress

5 17005701 23.02.18 Council Tax The evidence does not support the claim that 
lump sum payments to cover council tax 
arrears have not been credited to Ms. X's 
account or the Council agreed to write off part 
of the arrears if a lump sum payment was 
made

Statement Not upheld

6 17005183 21.02.18 Other/possessions The Council was at fault for allowing Mr D's 
possessions to be destroyed

Statement Upheld

Financial Award:
£300 distress & trouble

£1,200 replacement 
wardrobe

7 17005375 14.02.18 Housing Benefit & 
Council Tax

The Council did not explain clearly why it 
needed more information to assess Ms X's first 
claim for housing benefit and council tax 
support. It made factual errors in another letter. 
Ms X suffered no significant injustice as a 
result but the Council has acted to improve its 
letters in future. The Council did not delay 

Statement Upheld

Financial Award:
No Financial Award 
made

P
age 40



3

unreasonably in assessing Ms X's claims. The 
Council was not at fault in taking recovery 
action for unpaid council tax.

8 16009291 07.02.18 Anti-social behaviour There were some delays by the Council in the 
way it responded to concerns about anti-social 
behaviour and in its initial response to a 
complaint about its approach to the problems. 
The Council will apologise to Mr X and take 
action to prevent future delays in its complaints 
process

Statement Upheld

Financial Award:
No Financial Award 
made

9 17000057 06.12.17 Allocations Ms X complains about the Council's decision 
not to recommend her family a 5-bedroom 
property. The Council has carried out a 
number of reassessments but there is not 
enough evidence it has considered the 
emotional welfare of her older child or that a 
review was carried out correctly by a medical 
advisor in November 2016. Reconsidering his 
needs and ensuring that any restriction in 
communication with the Council is reviewed 
remedies this complaint.

Statement Upheld

Financial Award:
No Financial Award 
made

10 16013591 08.11.17 Assessment and Care 
plan

Mr Y complained on behalf of himself and his 
partner Mr X about the way the Council dealt 
with care assessments and support planning. 
There was some delay by the Council. The 
main issue was a failure to resolve a conflict 
with Mr Y about what care package is suitable 
for Mr X. This means the care has not been put 
in place. The Council agreed to take urgent 
steps to resolve the conflict by referral to its 
legal department if necessary, and apologise 
for other fault found.

Statement Upheld

11 17004569 13.10.17 Child Protection The Council is still investigating some of Mr X's 
complaints about its Children's and Information 

Statement Not upheld

P
age 41



4

Governance Services. I have therefore 
discontinued the Ombudsman's investigation.

12 17007993 19.09.17 Homelessness The Ombudsman will not investigate this 
complaint about the amount of compensation 
awarded to the complainant following delays 
with a homelessness application. This is 
because the Council has already provided a 
fair response and remedied the injustice. There 
is not enough outstanding injustice to require 
an investigation

Statement Not upheld

13 16010556 23.08.17 Allocations Mr D says the Council failed to properly assess 
his housing need. The Ombudsman has not 
found evidence of fault by the Council. She has 
completed the investigation and not upheld the 
complaint

Statement Not upheld

14 16010652 15.08.17 Homelessness There were faults in the way the Council 
handled Ms X's homelessness application. The 
Council has agreed to the recommendations 
made to remedy the injustice this caused Ms 
X.

Statement Upheld

Financial award:

£100 lost opportunity
£100 time & trouble

15 17003371 24.07.17 School Admissions There was no fault in the way a School 
Admission Appeal Panel considered Mr. X and 
Mrs. Y's appeal for a place at the School.

Statement Not upheld

P
age 42



5

Table 2: Table two – ‘closed’ complaints received by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman during 17th July 2017- 30th June 2018

No LGSCO Case no (ID) Date Nature of Complaint Type of Decision Outcome
16 17018123 16.03.18 Planning Statement Closed after initial 

enquiries
17 17016910 28.02.18 Council Tax Statement Closed after initial 

enquiries

18 17015438 06.02.18 Housing Benefit & 
Council Tax

Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

19 17013300 05.02.18 Managing council 
tenancies

Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

20 17014145 30.01.18 Other/data protection Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

21 17014196 05.01.18 Highway repair and 
maintenance

Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

22 17007460 01.12.17 Allocations Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

23 17 011778 30.11.17 Child protection Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

24 17010749 13.11.17 Safeguarding Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

25 17011368 24.10.17 Council house sales and 
leaseholders

Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

26 17009397 19.10.17 Parking and other 
penalties

Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

27 16017923 10.10.17 Council house sale and 
leaseholders

Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

28 17008512 25.09.17 Parking  & other 
penalties

Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

29 17005412 26.08.17 Leisure & culture Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

P
age 43



6

30 15003828 23.08.17 Child protection Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

31 17006292 15.08.17 Planning Applications Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

32 16016216 03.08.17 Traffic Management Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

33 17005552 24.07.17 School Admissions Statement Closed after initial 
enquiries

Table Three – table three – complaints received by the Housing Ombudsman during 17th July 2017- 30th June 2018

No Housing 
Ombudsman 
Case no (ID)

Date Nature of Complaint Brief Description Type of 
Decision

Outcome

1 201703724 28.02.18 Housing/ roof leak B made a complaint about how the Council 
responded to reports of a roof
leak, and the amount of compensation they 
offered. The Ombudsman’s  found that the 
Council had not carried out repairs to the 
roof within a reasonable period.

Statement Maladministration

Financial award:

£200 failure to carry 
out works

2 201610632 12.12.17 Housing/noise 
nuisance

C complained about the council’s response 
to noise nuisance and how it handled C’s 
assessment. The Ombudsman was not 
satisfied that the council had
done enough, based on the available 
evidence, to satisfy itself that terms of the 
lease in respect of flooring, has been met 
by the leaseholder. The Ombudsman 
found no maladministration by the Council 
in respect of its handling of the formal 
complaint. The reason being the council 
had since awarded proportionate 

Statement Maladministration

Financial award:

£250 Compensation

P
age 44



7

compensation to acknowledge the service 
failure in this regard and the Ombudsman 
will not make a finding of maladministration 
where a landlord has offered suitable 
redress to resolve a complaint.

3 201603288 05.12.17 Housing/ ASB & a 
referral

D complained about how the council 
handled (1) a complaint of Anti-Social 
behaviour (ASB) by a neighbour, including 
an
allegation of sexual assault; and (2)
allegations made by a neighbour, which led 
to a referral. The Ombudsman  found there 
was Maladministration in how the council 
handled the complaints  of ASB and the 
referral.

Statement Maladministration

Financial award:

No Financial Award 
made

4 201604456 16.08.17 Housing/ repairs E complained about the council’s handling 
of damp in their property and its refusal to 
reimburse them for the cost of instructing 
their own contractors to carry out repairs. 
The Ombudsman found maladministration 
in so far as the Council and its contractor 
cancelled a repair which it was obliged to 
carry out and did not notify E; the council 
did not acknowledge its management 
contractor’s poor handling of D’s enquiries 
about repairs to their property.

Statement Maladministration

Financial award:

£1,558.33
(£83.33per month for 
13 months’ delay, 
£175 time & trouble, 
£300 contribution to 
decoration)

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6

Resourses, Law & Governance
7 Newington Barrow Way

Report of: Monitoring Officer, Acting Director of Law and Governance 

Executive Date:19.07.18 Ward(s): All

Delete as
appropriate

Exempt Non-exempt

SUBJECT: The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman finding of 
Maladministration

1. Synopsis

1.1. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) has issued a report finding 
maladministration against the council. The LGSCO has advised that they will publish their report 
on the basis that it has wider public interest. 

1.2. The LGSCO decision was made on 29 May 2018 and relates to the council failing to provide 
assistance to Miss X, a 16-year-old who was threatened with homelessness.

1.3. Miss X’s mother, Ms Y, was evicted from her housing association accommodation. Ms Y applied 
to the council as a homeless person and both her and her daughter, Miss X, were placed in 
interim temporary accommodation in another council’s area (council B) pending investigation of 
her application. 

1.4. Upon completion of its investigation, the council found that Ms Y was intentionally homeless and 
that it did not have a duty to continue providing interim accommodation for her. Ms Y was 
advised accordingly and Miss X was referred to Children’s Services in council B’s area.

1.5.    Ms Y made various complaints to the council including:

(a) that council B had no record of the referral for her daughter; 

(b) that she and her daughter no longer lived in council B’s area as she had been evicted 
from her temporary accommodation; and  

(c) that she and her daughter were staying at various addresses within the Islington area.

Page 47



Page 2 of 6

1.6. The council explained to Ms Y that they had faxed the referral to council B but could not 
comment on why they had not received it and; maintained that it was under no duty to provide 
Ms Y or her daughter with accommodation.

1.7        Ms Y complained to the LGSCO. Upon investigating Ms Y’s complaint, the LGSCO found in her 
favour. Several recommendations were made to the council to address the findings of fault 
(maladministration).

1.8.  The council has accepted the LGSCO’s findings.

2. Recommendations

2.1. To note the contents of the LGSCO’s report dated 29 May 2018, a copy of which is attached    
          as appendix one.

2.2. To note that the findings and remedies recommended by the LGSCO have been accepted by   
         Children and Employment Services.

2.3. To note the actions taken by the council to implement the recommendations by the LGSCO. 

2.4. To note that copies of this report have been sent to all members of the council.

2.5. To agree that no further report or action needs to be taken in relation to the matters set out in 
          this report.

2.6     To agree that a copy of this report and the Executive minutes will be sent to the LGSCO.
 

3. Background 

3.1.  The Ombudsman service was set up following the Local Government Act 1974. Key changes to   
the Act were included in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the 
Health Act 2009. The Act sets out how the Ombudsman is organised, the Ombudsman’s powers, 
and the restrictions on those powers. The main statutory functions for the Ombudsman are: to 
investigate complaints against councils and some other authorities; to investigate complaints about 
adult social care providers from people who arrange or fund their adult social care (Health Act 
2009); and to provide advice and guidance on good administrative practice. In June 2017 the 
Local Government Ombudsman’s title was changed to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman. 

3.2. All complaints result in a decision. The LGSCO issues these decisions, either by way of a 
statement of reasons for the decision or a report. If the LGSCO decides that the council has 
done something wrong and that this fault has caused an injustice to the complainant, the 
LGSCO will suggest what the council should do to put this right. Most complaints result in a 
decision in the form of a decision statement. If the LGSCO decides to issue a public report on a 
complaint, the LGSCO will tell the council in advance and the council will have an opportunity to 
comment on a draft of the report before it is finalised.  In the case of complaints about the 
council, the outcomes of these complaints is reported to Members by way of (1) an annual 
report and (2) a six-monthly Monitoring Officer report to Audit Committee.

Page 48



Page 3 of 6

3.3. Additionally, where a complaint of fault (i.e. maladministration, service failure, or failure to 
provide a service) is upheld and a formal report (or public interest report) is to be issued, this 
must be considered by Executive (for executive functions) (or Full Council or committee (for 
non-executive functions)).

3.4. It is rare for the council to receive a formal report. This is the first public interest report the 
council has received in at least five years.

Complaint Summary

3.5. Miss X’s mother, Ms Y, was evicted from her housing association accommodation. Upon 
making a homelessness application to the council, she was placed in interim accommodation in 
another council’s area (council B) pending investigation of her application. 

3.6. The council found that Ms Y was intentionally homeless and that the council did not have a 
duty to continue providing interim temporary accommodation to her. Her daughter, Miss X, was 
referred to Children’s Services in council B’s area. 

3.7. Ms Y made various complaints to the council including:
(a) that council B had no record of the referral for her daughter; 
(b) that she and her daughter no longer lived in council B’s area as she had been evicted 
from her temporary accommodation; and  
(c) that she and her daughter were staying at various addresses within the Islington area.

3.8. The council maintained that it was under no duty to provide Ms Y or her daughter with 
accommodation.  

3.9    Ms Y complained to the LGSO. The LGSCO found the council to be at fault for failing:
(a) to provide services to Miss X as a 16-year-old at risk of homelessness, in particular 
in not carrying out an assessment as to what duty it owed to Miss X at the time Ms Y 
complained that they were no longer living in Council B’s area. 
(b) to contact Council B when it was under a duty to secure co-operation from Council 
B to address Miss X’s needs.
(c) to help Miss X when Ms Y complained, and in particular to identify that the Ms X 
was threatened with homelessness and may be entitled to assistance from the council’s 
housing service.

The LGSCO found no fault in the council referring Miss X to council B initially when she was 
living in Council B’s area. 

3.10. The LGSCO found that the council’s faults had caused Miss X significant distress as a result of 
          the uncertainty in relation to her housing.

3.11 The LGSCO recommended, and the council agreed, that the council should try to contact Miss 
         X and offer to carry out an assessment of her needs under the Children Act 1989 and to work 

with Council B to resolve any disputes (and provide any necessary services to Miss X while any 
disputes were settled). The LGSCO further recommended, and the council agreed, to pay Miss 
X £400 for the distress caused.

Page 49



Page 4 of 6

3.12 Following receipt of the draft LGSCO decision, Children and Employment Services undertook a 
        complaint learning meeting to consider the LGSCO’s findings. The council tried to contact Ms Y 

and Miss X to offer to carry out an assessment, but they have not engaged with the council and 
made clear, via a family member, that they do not want any contact or services from the local 
authority. A cheque has been issued to Miss X at her last known address. Although the 
LGSCO’s report indicates that the council’s failure to offer services in a timely and proper 
manner has resulted in a situation where there is considerable uncertainty about the welfare of 
Miss X, the council’s own follow up indicates that Miss X no longer requires services from the 
council.  

Chief Finance Officer (s151) comments

3.13. The council has agreed to pay the complainant’s daughter £400 as recommended by the 
LGSCO. This will be met from within the existing Children’s Service’s budget.

3.14. A cheque has been raised and issued for the said sum. It was delivered and signed for on the 
05.01.18, but to date it has not been cashed.

Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) Comments

3.15. The council notes the LGSCO’s recommendations and has accepted them in full. 

3.16. Numerous attempts to contact Ms Y and Miss X have been made via letter, telephone and 
personal visits in order to action the LGSCO’s recommendations. To date, we have not 
received a direct response from either Ms Y or Miss X. We have been advised via a family 
member that Ms Y and Miss X do not want any contact or services from the local authority.

3.17. The LGSCO’s decision is not indicative of the usual high standards of practice by this service 
area. It is clear that there are aspects of our practice in this case that should have been better 
managed and we have reviewed why this occurred and the learning going forward.

Director of Children and Employment Services Comments

3.18. We note the LGSCO’s recommendations and accept them in full.  We have  disseminated the  
         learning  from this decision across  the department to avoid a similar reoccurrence in the future 
         and ensure we maintain our usual high standards.

Monitoring Officer Comments 

3.19. Where the LGSCO completes an investigation s/he must prepare a report and send a copy to  
the complainant, the local authority and other parties relevant to the complaint, s30(1) of the 
Local Government Act 1974.  

 3.20.Where fault is found and a formal report is to be issued by the LGSCO, the Monitoring Officer 
is under an obligation to prepare a report for the Executive under s5A (for executive functions) 
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. The Executive is also under a duty by virtue of 
s31(2) LGA 1974 to consider the report of the LGSCO.  

Page 50



Page 5 of 6

3.21 The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) and s151 Officer (Corporate Director of 
Resources) are required to be consulted so far as reasonably practicable in the preparation of 
a maladministration report, s5A (5) the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. Both the 
statutory officers have been duly consulted and their comments are set out above.

3.22. The Monitoring Officer is also required to arrange for a copy of this report to be circulated to all 
members of the authority. The Executive agenda and papers are sent to all the council’s 
members; accordingly, the circulation of this report complies with that requirement.

3.23. Further, the authority is under an obligation (s5A(6)(a) and (8)) to:
(a) consider the report within 21 days of the report being sent to all members of the 
council; and 
(b) as soon as practicable after the Executive has considered the report, the Executive 
must prepare a report which specifies: (1) what action, if any, the Executive has taken in 
response to the report, (2) what action, if any, the Executive proposes to take in response 
and when it proposes to take that action, and (3) the reasons for taking the action, or as 
the case may be, no action.

3.24. Copies of the Executive’s report on the action it has taken or proposed to take must, as soon s 
          practicable, be sent to each member of the authority and the authority’s monitoring officer (s5A 

(9)). It must also be sent to the LGSCO within 3 months. 

3.25. The local authority must give public notice in newspapers and such other ways as appear 
appropriate and copies of the report shall be available for inspection by the public for a period 
of three weeks (s30(4), (5) LGA 174).

(a) The public notice was placed in the Islington Gazette on Friday 15 June 2018 and 
the Islington Tribune on Thursday 14 June 2018;

(b) The report was available for public inspection at .at the Town Hall, Upper Street,   
London and 222 Upper Street, London from the 14 June 2018;

(c) The notice and report have also been published on the council’s website, and
(d) Publication of the LGSCO’s report as an appendix to this report ensures it remains 

in the public domain.

3.26. Where the LGSCO reports there has been maladministration resulting in injustice the report 
shall be laid before the authority and it shall be the duty of the authority to consider the report 
and within 3 months of receipt (or such longer periods as the LGSCO may agree in writing) 
notify the LGSCO of the action which the authority has taken or proposes to take, s31 of the 
Local Government Act 1974. This report to the Executive complies with the first part of this 
legal requirement. Sending a copy of the report and the Executive minutes to the LGSCO will 
comply with the second part of this legal requirement (provided Executive agrees the 
recommendations). 

3.27. The council may incur expenditure as appears appropriate in making a payment to a person 
         who has suffered injustice in consequence of maladministration (s31(3) Local Government Act 

1974). In addition, the council has the power to pay compensation or assist a person who has 
suffered injustice as a result of maladministration (s92 Local Government Act 2000).

Page 51



Page 6 of 6

4. Implications

Finance Implications

4.1. Please see the body of the report, in particular Chief Finance Officer comments at paragraphs  
         3.13 -3.14.

Legal Implications

4.2. Please see the body of the report, in particular Monitoring Officer comments at paragraphs   
         3.19-3.27.

Environmental Implications
4.3. There are no environmental implications arising out of this report.

Resident Impact Assessment
4.4. A Resident Impact Assessment has not been carried out in relation to this LGSCO’s decision.

5 Reasons for the recommendations / decision

5.1. The Council accepts the LGSCO’s findings, and there is no reason not to follow the 
 recommendations of the LGSCO.

5.2. The Corporate Director for Children and Employment Services has agreed the course of action 
and tried to implement the same. 

5.3. Compliance with the above recommendations ensures that the statutory requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1974 and Local Government Housing Act 1989 are met.

Signed by:

Monitoring Officer, Acting Director of Law 
and Governance 

Date

Appendices
 Appendix one: the final Ombudsman’s report dated 29 May 2018

Page 52



Investigation into a complaint against
London Borough of Islington
(reference number: 17 011 285)

29 May 2018

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman www.lgo.org.uk

Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman

Page 53

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


    

Final report 2

The Ombudsman’s role
For 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated 
complaints. We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our 
jurisdiction by recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and 
reasonable based on all the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge.

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs 
and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make 
recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault. 

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they 
almost always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are:

 apologise

 pay a financial remedy

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again.

.

Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally name 
or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a letter or 
job role.

Page 54



    

Final report 3

Key to names used

Miss X The complainant

Ms Y Miss X’s mother

Council B Another Council area where Ms Y and Miss X were temporarily 
housed by London Borough of Islington.

Report summary

Education and Children’s Services – Child in need
Miss X complains the Council has refused to provide her with assistance with her 
housing. She says she is homeless as her mother has been evicted from 
temporary accommodation.

Finding
Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made.

Recommendations
The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 
has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members. 
We will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended)

In addition to the requirements set out above the Council has also agreed to take 
the following action based on our recommendations:

The Council will try to contact Miss X and offer to carry out an assessment of her 
needs under the 1989 Children Act with reference to statutory guidance and in 
conjunction with its housing department. We said the Council should take this 
action immediately and without delay. The Council has taken this action but has 
been unable to contact Miss X. 

If the Council believes that Council B is responsible for Miss X under the Children 
Act 1989 it should work with Council B to resolve any disputes. Miss X should not 
be disadvantaged by any disagreements and the Council should provide any 
necessary services until the disputes are settled. As the Council has been unable 
to contact Miss X there is no further action for it to take at this time. However, it 
should consider this recommendation should Miss X make contact in the future.

The Council has paid Miss X £400 for the distress caused as a result of its failure 
to provide assistance. 

In addition to our recommendations the Council has “held a complaint learning 
meeting [about this complaint] … and [has] disseminated the learning across the 
[children’s services department]”. We welcome the positive action that the Council 
has taken to learn from this complaint and avoid similar problems for others in 
future.

Page 55



    

Final report 4

The complaint
1. Miss X complains the Council has refused to provide her with assistance with her 

housing. She says she became homeless when her mother was evicted from 
temporary accommodation.

Legal and administrative background
The Ombudsman’s role

2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 
report, we have used the word ‘fault’ to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the complaint. 
We refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused an injustice, 
we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), as 
amended)

The law and homeless 16 and 17 year olds
3. Under section 184 of the 1996 Housing Act a council must make enquiries where 

it has reason to believe that a person is homeless or threatened with 
homelessness within 28 days.

4. If a council has reason to believe a person is homeless, eligible for assistance 
and in priority need it must ensure that accommodation is available for them 
whilst it carries out its enquiries. 16 and 17 year olds are automatically considered 
to be in priority need. (Housing Act 1996, s.188 & 189)

5. When a 16 or 17 year old approaches a housing department for assistance it 
must deal with them under the 1996 Housing Act. However, it must also refer the 
young person to the “responsible” children’s services authority for an assessment 
as to whether or not they are a child in need. In the meantime the housing 
department should continue to deal with the child under the 1996 Housing Act 
until the child in need assessment is completed. (Provision of Accommodation for 16 and 
17 year old people who may be homeless and/or require accommodation – Statutory guidance, April 
2010)

6. The law says the “responsible” authority is the authority in whose area the child is 
“found” even if the child was placed there by another authority. (Children Act 1989, 
s.17)

7. Where a 16 or 17 year old approaches children’s services as homeless or 
threatened with homelessness the children’s services department must assess 
“whether the young person is a child in need, and determine whether any duty is 
owed under [the Children Act 1989] to provide the young person with 
accommodation”. (Provision of Accommodation for 16 and 17 year old people who may be 
homeless and/or require accommodation – Statutory guidance, April 2010)

8. The law says councils have a duty to co-operate with each other. If a council 
believes another body, including another council, can “help in the exercise of any 
of their functions” it may request help. The other council “shall comply with the 
request if it is compatible with their own statutory or other duties and obligations 
and does not unduly prejudice the discharge of any of their functions”. (Children Act 
1989, s.27)

9. Statutory guidance issued by the government says children’s services and 
housing departments within councils should have written joint protocols which “set 
out clear practical arrangements for providing services that are centred on young 

Page 56



    

Final report 5

people and their families and prevent young people from being passed from pillar 
to post”. (Provision of Accommodation for 16 and 17 year old people who may be homeless and/or 
require accommodation – Statutory guidance, April 2010)

How we considered this complaint
10. This report has been produced after examining relevant documents. 

11. The complainant and the Council were given a confidential draft of this report and 
invited to comment. The comments received were taken into account before the 
report was finalised. 

What we found
12. Miss X’s mother (Ms Y) was evicted from her housing association property in 

August 2017. Ms Y approached the Council for assistance and was placed in 
interim accommodation in another council’s area (Council B) whilst the Council 
made enquiries into her circumstances.

13. Ms Y also contacted the Council’s children’s services department at the time of 
her eviction to say she had nowhere to live and her daughter was about to 
become homeless. Miss X was 16 years old and still at school.

14. The Council’s children’s services department carried out an assessment at the 
time and found Miss X had accommodation available to her with her grandmother. 
However, Miss X did not wish to be separated from her mother so she moved to 
the interim accommodation with Ms Y.

15. The Council’s housing department found Ms Y intentionally homeless and so it did 
not have a duty to continue providing her with interim accommodation. The 
Council served notice on Ms Y informing her she had to leave the interim 
accommodation.

16. The Council referred Miss X to children’s services in Council B. This is because 
this was the area she was living in at the time even though the Council had placed 
her there.

17. Ms Y complained to the Council on 16 August 2017. She said her daughter was in 
education in the Council’s area and has no links to Council B. She said it was not 
her choice to live in Council B’s area and she had been placed there by the 
Council. Ms Y said she wanted her daughter “back in Islington so she can 
continue her education… And the social services as well as the housing failed to 
do this for her”.

18. The Council replied to Ms Y on 29 August 2017. The Council said that it had 
“closed” Miss X’s case. It said it had referred Miss X to Council B as she was 
resident in that area. The Council said: 

“… we have no legal obligation to house you or your child. We are a child in need 
and child protection service, we do not provide housing. You were provided with 
temporary accommodation by [the housing department] whilst an assessment 
was completed… It is not reasonable to expect that your daughter will be able to 
resume living in [the Council’s area] which is one of the most expensive parts of 
England to live… I need to reinforce the fact that we are a busy front line child 
protection service and not a housing service. I apologise, if this was your 
experience but we are not obliged legally to provide you with housing”.

Page 57



    

Final report 6

19. The letter went on to say:

“Please contact the local children’s service department and discuss your concerns 
for your daughter’s future accommodation, if it’s the case that you have no other 
arrangements made, they will need to assess her as a homeless 16 yr old”.

20. Ms Y complained to the Council again on 6 September 2017. Ms Y said Council B 
had no record of a referral from the Council for her daughter. Ms Y also said that 
she and her daughter were no longer living in Council B’s area as she had been 
evicted. Ms Y said she and her daughter were staying between various addresses 
within the London Borough of Islington’s area.

21. The Council replied to Ms Y on 5 October 2017. The Council said it had faxed a 
referral to Council B on 18 August 2017 but it could not comment on why it had 
not received this. The Council said “whilst I acknowledge housing is a need, it is 
not an area that the [Child in Need] service deal with and as previously explained 
the service have no legal obligation to house you or your daughter… I 
acknowledge that staying on sofas is not ideal for either you or your daughter but I 
trust your situation will be improved as soon as possible… The council has no 
legal obligation to provide housing for you or your daughter and the referral [to 
Council B] was made appropriately on behalf of you and your daughter”.

Conclusions
22. The Council is at fault for failing to provide services to Miss X as a 16 year old at 

risk of homelessness.

23. There was no fault in the Council advising Miss X to contact Council B for 
assistance when she was living in its area. The courts have said that councils 
have a responsibility to children within their area even if they were placed there by 
another council. However, Council B has not accepted any responsibility for Miss 
X and she is no longer resident in its area. 

24. Miss X’s mother, Ms Y, explained this to the Council when she contacted it on 6 
September 2017. The Council should have carried out an assessment as to what 
duty it owed Miss X at that time. Failure to do so was fault.

25. Even if the Council did not believe it was legally responsible for carrying out the 
assessment it was under a duty to secure co-operation from Council B in 
addressing Miss X’s needs. Its failure to contact Council B was also fault. As a 
result Miss X and Ms Y were caused some distress and put to unnecessary time 
and trouble in having to continue pursuing this matter with the Council.

26. The Council was also at fault when it refused to help Miss X when Ms Y contacted 
it in August 2017 to make a complaint. Whilst the Council believed Council B’s 
children’s services were responsible for Miss X, the Council failed to identify that 
Miss X was threatened with homelessness and may be entitled to help from its 
own housing department.

27. The 1996 Housing Act does not specify which department should deal with 
homeless applications. The Act says that where a council has reason to believe a 
person may be homeless or threatened with homelessness within 28 days it 
should make enquires into what duty it owes. Even if the Council did not believe it 
was under a duty to Miss X under the Children Act 1989 it should have 
considered whether it owed her any duty under the 1996 Housing Act. 

Page 58



    

Final report 7

28. The Council says its children’s services department had contacted its housing 
department, however there is no evidence a homeless application was accepted 

and Council B was not contacted by the Council to find out what, if any, 
assistance it was offering. 

29. Statutory guidance says the Council should have clear protocols between 
children’s services and housing departments to “prevent young people from being 
passed from pillar to post”. The Council failed to provide proper assistance to 
Miss X and she was caused significant distress as a result of the uncertainty 
around her housing.

30. Following our recommendations, the Council tried to contact Miss X to offer 
assistance but has been unable to do so. The Council says it has spoken to Miss 
X’s grandmother who has advised that Miss X no longer wants any contact from 
the Council. 

31. The Council says it has tried to contact Miss X at her school but says the school 
refused to provide contact information as it did not have Miss X’s permission to do 
so.

32. Miss X’s whereabouts are currently unknown and neither we nor the Council have 
been able to contact her directly. The Council’s failure to offer services in a timely 
and proper manner has resulted in a situation where there is considerable 
uncertainty about the welfare of this young person.

Agreed action
33. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 

has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members. 
We will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended)

34. In addition to the requirements set out above the Council has also agreed to take 
the following action based on our recommendations:

• The Council will try to contact Miss X and offer to carry out an assessment of 
her needs under the 1989 Children Act with reference to statutory guidance 
and in conjunction with its housing department. We said the Council should 
take this action immediately and without delay. The Council has taken this 
action but been unable to contact Miss X. 

• If the Council believes that Council B is responsible for Miss X under the 
Children Act 1989 it should work with Council B to resolve any disputes. Miss X 
should not be disadvantaged by any disagreements and the Council should 
provide any necessary services until the disputes are settled. As the Council 
has been unable to contact Miss X there is no further action for it to take at this 
time. However, it should consider this recommendation should Miss X make 
contact in the future.

• The Council has paid Miss X £400 for the distress caused as a result of its 
failure to provide assistance. 

35. In addition to our recommendations the Council has “held a complaint learning 
meeting [about this complaint]… and [has] disseminated the learning across the 
[children’s services department]”. We welcome the positive action that the Council 

Page 59



    

Final report 8

has taken to learn from this complaint and avoid similar problems for others in 
future.

Decision
36. We have found fault causing injustice and the actions we have recommended are 

a suitable way to remedy this. Therefore, we have now completed this 
investigation

Page 60



Page 1 of 5

Resources Department
7 Newington Barrow Way, N7 7EP

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources

Meeting of: Date Agenda item Ward(s)

Audit Committee 24 July 2018 All

Delete as
appropriate

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: THE COUNCIL’S USE OF SURVEILLANCE UNDER THE 
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000

1.

1.1

Synopsis

The report updates the Committee on the Council’s use of covert surveillance under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (“RIPA”).

2. Recommendations

2.1

2.2

To note the level and nature of covert surveillance undertaken by the Council.

To note current arrangements for ensuring compliance with RIPA and the Home Office Codes 
of Practice.

3. Background

3.1 RIPA provides a statutory framework regulating the use of directed surveillance and the 
conduct of covert human intelligence sources (informants or undercover officers) by public 
authorities. The Act requires public authorities, including local authorities, to use covert 
investigation techniques in a way that is necessary, proportionate and compatible with human 
rights. 

3.2 Directed surveillance is covert surveillance conducted for the purposes of a specific 
investigation or operation and it is likely to result in the obtaining of private information about a 
person. Private information includes any aspect of a person’s private or personal relationship 
with others, including family and professional or business relationships. Whilst a person may 
have a reduced expectation of privacy when in a public place, covert surveillance of that 
person’s activities in public may still result in the obtaining of private information. 

Page 61

Agenda Item B3



Page 2 of 5

3.3 The use of covert surveillance techniques by local authorities was previously the subject of 
some controversy. The Government introduced significant changes under the Protection of 
Freedoms Act 2012, which came into effect on 1 November 2012. The changes mean that a 
local authority can now only grant authorisations under RIPA for the use of directed 
surveillance where it is for the purposes of investigating criminal offences that attract a 
custodial sentence of six months or more or criminal offences relating to the underage sale of 
alcohol or tobacco. A magistrate’s approval is also required before the RIPA authorisation can 
take effect.

3.4 All RIPA authorisations must be signed by an authorising officer. Authorising officers must be 
trained before issuing any authorisations and they should attend regular refresher training. The 
Council currently has 2 authorising officers:

• Service Director Public Protection
• Audit Manager (Investigations)

4.      Codes of Practice

4.1

4.2

4.3

In December 2014, the Home Office issued codes of practice - Covert Surveillance and 
Property Interference Code of Practice (“the Code of Practice”) and Covert Human Intelligence 
Sources Code of Practice. The Code of Practice sets out that it is good practice for public 
authorities to appoint a Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) to be responsible for the authority’s 
compliance with RIPA. The SRO will engage with inspectors during inspections and where 
necessary oversee the implementation of post-inspection action plans. Within local authorities, 
the SRO should be a member of the corporate leadership team and currently the Interim 
Corporate Director of Resources has been nominated to this role. 

On 16 November 2017 the Home Office launched a public consultation on revised codes of 
practice and in June 2018 they published their response to the consultation. The codes of 
practice will be laid before Parliament and will only come into force once they have been 
approved by both Houses of Parliament. When the draft codes of practice are formally issued, 
the council’s RIPA policy will be updated.

The draft Code of Practice includes an expanded section dealing with online covert activity. 
The extent of the information now available online, presents opportunities for the Council to 
view or gather information which may assist in preventing or detecting crime. Much of this 
information can be accessed without the need for RIPA authorisation but the revised Code of 
Practice will provide council officers with updated guidance when considering whether a 
directed surveillance authorisation for online activity should be sought. Also in the section on 
local authorities the draft Code of Practice maintains that the SRO should be a member of the 
corporate leadership team. 

5. Inspection of the Council’s arrangements for compliance with RIPA

5.1 The Office of Surveillance Commissioners (“OSC”) has carried out inspections of the Council’s 
management of covert activities every 2 to 3 years. The most recent inspection was on 1 
December 2016 and was carried out by Assistant Surveillance Commissioner, His Honour 
Brian Barker CBE, QC (“the Assistant Surveillance Commissioner”). The Assistant Surveillance 
Commissioner found that “the overall picture is positive, and there is now central control such 
that systems are in place to ensure both understanding and compliance with the Act, and 
efficient gathering and presentation of evidence when directed surveillance is deployed”.

Page 62



Page 3 of 5

5.2

5.3

The Assistant Surveillance Commissioner recommended that the Council should look at ways 
of creating more awareness by the elected members of the scope and availability of RIPA 
procedures. To achieve this an annual report has continued to be brought to Audit Committee 
regarding the council’s use of surveillance under RIPA. In addition, an annual report is also 
now being brought to Executive, six months after the Audit Committee report, regarding the 
council’s use of surveillance under RIPA; the first annual report was brought to Executive on 23 
November 2017.

On 1 September 2017, the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (ICPO) took over 
responsibility for oversight of investigatory powers from the Interception of Communications 
Commissioner’s Office, the OSC and the Intelligence Services Commissioner. Future 
inspections of the Council’s use of RIPA will be undertaken by the ICPO.

6.   Use of RIPA

6.1 During this financial year since 1 April 2018, the Council has authorised directed surveillance 
on 1 occasion for a case of unlawful subletting investigated by Housing Investigations. This 
authorisation has been given judicial approval by a magistrate.

6.2 For the previous financial year (1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018) the Council authorised directed 
surveillance on 1 occasion for a case of unlawful subletting and benefit fraud investigated by 
Housing Investigations. This authorisation was given judicial approval by a magistrate.
 

6.3 The council has not authorised the use of a covert human intelligence source since October 
2010. 

6.4 The trend in the number of RIPA authorisations has been downwards. By comparison the 
Council has granted the following number of directed surveillance authorisations in previous 
years:

 2010/11 – 23
 2011/12 – 15
 2012/13 – 17
 2013/14 - 6
 2014/15 – 4
 2015/16 – 1
 2016/17 - 2

7. Implications

7.1 Financial implications:

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. Robust anti-fraud activity is 
an integral part of the Council’s strategy for safeguarding its assets and maximising its use of 
resources. The use of investigatory surveillance is one of the tools the Council uses to achieve 

Page 63



Page 4 of 5

these aims.

7.2 Legal Implications:

RIPA was introduced to ensure that covert surveillance undertaken by public authorities is 
undertaken in accordance with the European Convention on Human Rights and the Human 
Rights Act 1998. 

The Council can only undertake covert surveillance if the proposed operation is authorised by 
one of the Council’s authorising officers and subsequently approved by a magistrate. A local 
authority can only use directed surveillance if it is necessary to prevent or detect criminal 
offences, which attract a custodial sentence of six months or more or criminal offences relating 
to the underage sale of alcohol or tobacco. The authorising officer must also be satisfied that 
the proposed directed surveillance is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved.

There has been a reduction in the number of directed surveillance authorisations granted by 
the Council since 1 November 2012, when the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 introduced 
significant changes to local authorities’ use of RIPA. However, the Council could still face a 
legal challenge to the way in which covert surveillance is conducted; this could lead to the 
evidence obtained being ruled as inadmissible and/or a complaint to the Investigatory Powers 
Tribunal. 

7.3 Environmental Implications:

Nil

7.4 Resident Impact Assessment:

The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster 
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do 
not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The Council has a duty to have due regard to the 
need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to 
take account of disabled persons’ disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. 
The Council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

A resident impact assessment has not been conducted, as this report only provides monitoring 
information and a legal update for the Committee.

8. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

8.1 The Council has implemented the recommendations of the Assistant Surveillance 
Commissioner and is managing its covert activities in accordance with RIPA and the Home 
Office codes of practice.

8.2 The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 has introduced additional safeguards to the use of RIPA 
and the impact of covert surveillance on the privacy of those under investigation. This has seen 
a reduction in the use of directed surveillance by the Council. 

Appendices: None

Background papers: None 

Page 64



Page 5 of 5

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

Corporate Director of Resources        Date

Report Author:                        Marina Lipscomb
Tel:
Email:

Financial Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Legal Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

020 7527 3314
marina.lipscomb@islington.gov.uk

Steve Abbott
020 7527 2369
steve.abbott@islington.gov.uk 

Marina Lipscomb
020 7527 3314
marina.lipscomb@islington.gov.uk

Page 65

mailto:marina.lipscomb@islington.gov.uk
mailto:steve.abbott@islington.gov.uk
mailto:marina.lipscomb@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6

Resources Department
7 Newington Barrow Way, London N7 7EP

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources

Meeting of 
Audit Committee

Date
24th July 2018

Agenda Item Ward(s)

Delete as
appropriate

Exempt Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Market Supplements

1. Synopsis

1.1 In January 2015 the Audit Committee adopted a market supplements policy with effect from 1st 
March, 2015 with a view to addressing the difficulties being experienced in recruiting to a number 
of specific technical and professional roles. This report provides an update on the effectiveness 
of market supplements in attracting the skills required by the council and whether they have 
proved more cost effective than engaging agency workers.

2. Recommendations

2.1 To note the update provided in this paper.

3. Background

3.1 The Policy and Performance Scrutiny Committee undertook a review of the council’s use of 
agency workers and presented its report to the Executive in May 2014.  Recommendations 
arising out of that review included one that the council should consider the use of market 
supplements for ‘hard to fill posts’ as part of a strategy for reducing the use of agency workers.

3.2 The policy sets quite stringent requirements in respect of evidence of the need for a supplement 
and requires that markets supplements are approved by the Chief Executive, or if they meet 
specified criteria, are considered by the Audit Committee itself. 

3.3 The policy requires that a business case is prepared before a market supplements can be 
agreed.  The business case is required to address the following issues:

Page 67

Agenda Item B4



Page 2 of 6

(a) The anticipated detrimental impact on the operation of the council and its services 
of failing to recruit to, or retain, suitable employees in the post;

(b) Alternatives available to the use of market supplements (e.g. use of agency 
workers);

(c) The outcome of previous attempts to recruit to the post and/or difficulties in retaining 
employees in the post due to its remuneration, including exit interview information;

(d) Evidence of steps taken to maximise the attractiveness of the role and the likelihood 
of recruiting to it;

(e) Detailed information about the local labour market relevant to the post concerned 
using specific comparator jobs or survey information where sufficiently detailed and 
relevant;

(f) This information to cover at least 3 comparator roles and include the job 
descriptions (including management span and budget responsibilities), person 
specifications and overall remuneration and benefits package (including annual 
leave entitlement and other benefits) of roles cited as comparators;

(g) The calculation of the proposed supplement based on the median of the 
comparators used;

(h) Confirmation that the cost of the market supplement if applied can be met from the 
service’s existing budget.

4.

4.1

4.2

Use of market supplements 

The following market supplements have been implemented since the policy was introduced 
and the posts were filled:

Department Service Job title Period Amount 
per 
annum

Finance and 
Resources 

Digital Services 
and Transformation

Information Security 
Adviser

27/05/15 -

03/05/16

£8175

Finance and 
Resources

ICT Strategy and 
Transformation

Business 
Engagement 
Manager

29/06/15 -

30/11/15

£4995

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Principal Lift Engineer From September 
2017

£5,000

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Senior Electrical 
Engineer

From September 
2017

£8,000

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Electrical Engineer From 30/05/17 £7,000

E&R Street Environment 
Services

Corporate Fleet and 
Transport Manager

From 05/01/18 £9,819

The following market supplements have been approved but it has not been possible to fill all 
the posts:

Page 68



Page 3 of 6

4.3

5.

Department Service Job title Period Amount 
per annum

Comments

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Mechanical 
Engineer

From 
September 
2017

£11,000 1 of 2 posts 
filled

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Mechanical 
Inspector

From 
September 
2017

£10,000 1 of 2 posts 
filled

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Electrical 
Inspector

From 
September 
2017

£10,000 1 of 2 posts 
filled

The following market supplements have been approved but it has not been possible to fill any 
of the posts:

Department Service Job title Amount 
per annum

Comments

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Group Lead, 
Mechanical and 
Electrical Team 
x 1

£9,000 Attempts to recruit on 
two occasions have been 
unsuccessful despite the 
market supplement being 
offered

HASS Housing Property 
Services

Lead Domestic 
Gas Engineer x 
2

£6,870

Effectiveness and cost of using market supplements  

5.1 Feedback from managers in HASS and E&R demonstrates that markets supplements have been 
essential in enabling recruitment to these technical and specialist roles. Even so, not all posts 
have been filled. It is necessary to re-advertise the ones that remain vacant and there is no 
guarantee of a successful outcome to the campaigns. Candidates have commented that market 
supplements are not the same as a permanent salary, as they are subject to annual reviews and 
could in theory be withdrawn. When posts are advertised, the market supplement has to be 
shown separately and this may also deter potential candidates. For certain roles, amounts in the 
region of £15,000 can be spent on advertising, due to the need to use specialist media.

5.2

5.3

Campaigns are currently under way with a view to filling the remaining vacancies for the roles of 
Group Lead - Mechanical and Electrical Team, Mechanical Engineer, Electrical Engineer, and 
Mechanical Inspector. 

Managers in a range of services where there are specialist roles which require lengthy study and 
high-level qualifications, and for which there is often competition with more generous salaries in 
the private sector, find that they struggle to recruit. The evidence shows that market supplements 
provide a solution, at least in part, but that it would be beneficial to look into the problems in 
recruiting to these posts in greater detail, including reviewing recruitment processes and ensuring 
that the full benefits packages are explained. In particular, feedback from managers is that the 
NJC job evaluation scheme does not adequately recognise the value of roles requiring technical 
qualifications and knowledge, as well as management and leadership skills and commercial flare. 

Page 69



Page 4 of 6

This combination is prized in the private sector and attracts very high remuneration. Human 
Resources colleagues have been providing dedicated support to managers to assist them with 
these resourcing challenges, including to ensure advertisements capture all the benefits of 
working for the council. Colleagues with specialist knowledge of job evaluation have been 
working to ensure the evaluation of these roles is effective and supports the attraction of the right 
calibre of candidates.

5.4

5.5

Examples of roles for which market supplements have been agreed, with the costs of permanent 
employees compared to agency workers are listed here:

Job title Islington grade/
Salary

Market 
supplement

Approximate on-
costs (c 20%)

Total cost of 
employee

Principal Lift 
Engineer

PO5 

£42,651 - £45,438

£5,000 pa

(£47,651 - 
£50,438)

£9,530 - £10,088 £57,181 - 

£60,525

Senior 
Electrical 
Engineer

P04/P05 

£39,855 - £45,438

£8,000 pa

(£47,855 - 
£53,438)

£9,571 - £10,688 £57,426 -

£64,126

Mechanical 
Engineer

P02/P03 

£35,070 - £39,855

£11,000 pa

(£46,070 -

£50,855)

£9,214 - £10,171 £55,284 -

£61,026

Mechanical 
Inspector

S01/S02 

£29,424 - £33,627

£10,000 pa

(£39,424 -

£43,627)

£7,885 - £8,725 £47,309 -

£52,352

Electrical 
Inspector

S01/S02 

£29,424 - £33,627

£7,000 pa

(£36,424 - 
£40,627)

£7,285 - £8,125 £43,709

£48,752

Job title Day Rate
(Contractor)

Day Rate 
(including 
agency fee)

Annual 
contract 
cost
(48 weeks)

Principal Lift Engineer £260.00 £286.00 £68,640

Senior Electrical Engineer £250.00 £275.00        
     

£66,000

Mechanical Engineer £180.00 £198.00 £47,520

Mechanical Inspector £200.00 £220.00 £52,800

Electrical Inspector £200.00 £220.00 £52,800

One of the reasons that managers engage agency workers is because they experience 
difficulties in recruiting to posts permanently due to the salaries the council offers for jobs which 
may typically attract better pay in the private sector. As can be seen from the examples listed 

Page 70



Page 5 of 6

above, the cost of engaging an agency worker is generally greater than the cost of hiring a 
permanent employee. However, there are broader issues, with less easily quantifiable costs 
which should be noted and which, when taken into consideration alongside the costs, mean that 
offering market supplements in order to recruit on a permanent basis to hard-to-fill posts is the 
preferable option. These issues are as follows: 

 The council wishes to act as a responsible and ethical employer, providing opportunities 
which offer people stability and security for them and their families and contribute to 
making Islington a fairer place;

 Unless used in conjunction with planned knowledge transfer, a high use of agency workers 
undermines efforts to build organisational and individual capability and does not allow for 
effective succession planning;

 An extensive use of agency workers carries significant risk in view of the speed at which 
workers can terminate contracts;

 A more transient workforce will be less motivated and less committed to working to 
achieve the council’s vision and values;

 Some agency workers may have chequered work histories, which are very difficult to 
identify in advance due to the fact that they work through agencies.

6. Implications

6.1 Financial implications: 
As part of the process to approve market supplements, managers must assess where the funding 
will come from and ensure that sufficient funds are available to pay for the supplements from 
within their existing budgets.

6.2 Legal Implications:
Where the council awards a market supplement (in addition to the evaluated grade of a post), 
the potential for equal pay claims arises.  The council needs to be able to demonstrate that the 
award of the supplement is justified by a material factor (which is neither directly nor indirectly 
discriminatory) in order to avoid or defend such claims.  The state of the employment market, 
which may lead an employer to increase the pay of a particular job in order to attract candidates, 
can constitute an objectively justified economic ground for a pay disparity, provided the 
applicable pay levels are not due to underlying discriminatory reasons.  Having a robust market 
supplements policy in place, which has been and continues to be equality impact assessed, is 
subject to regular review and which requires documentary evidence of the market conditions and 
recruitment difficulties, mitigates the risks of using supplements.

6.3 Environmental Implications:
There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

6.4 Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of 
opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council 
has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take 
steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, 

Page 71



Page 6 of 6

and encourage people to participate in public life.  The council must have due regard to 
the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding. 

A resident impact assessment was undertaken in respect of the Market Supplement policy.  
The policy itself is not considered likely to have an adverse impact on any particular group 
but as the policy gives discretion to managers the use of the policy by managers will be 
monitored to ensure it is being fairly applied.

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

Liz Haynes
Director of Human Resources

Date: 9th July, 2018

Received by:

Head of Democratic Services Date

Report Author: Liz Haynes, Director of Human Resources
Tel: 020 7527 3523
Email: liz.haynes@islington.gov.uk

Page 72

mailto:liz.haynes@islington.gov.uk

	Agenda
	A4 Minutes of previous meeting
	B1 Annual Governance Statement 2017-18
	LBI Audit Committee - Appendix A - 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement

	B2 Monitoring Officer's report on the Local Government Ombudsman's decisions July 2017/June 2018
	Appendix One - table of complaints received by the LGSCO
	APPENDIX TWO Monitoring Officer Executive Report July 2018
	Appendix TWO -Executive report attachment - LGSCO  Final Report

	B3 The Council's use of surveillance under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
	B4 Market Supplements

